A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW 

Eric Jacobson, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court 

to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the decision of the Court of 

Appeals in State v. Jacobson, No. 49887-1-II, filed May 15, 2018. 

Appendix A. Jacobson’s motion to reconsider was denied on July 30, 

2018. Appendix B.  

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Should the Court accept review because the opinion below

conflicts with Division One’s published opinion in State v. Solomon, 3 

Wn. App. 2d 895, 901, 419 P.3d 436 (2018), by holding the undercover 

Net Nanny operation did not constitute outrageous government conduct, 

which is also an issue of substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). 

2. The Pierce County prosecutor’s misconduct pervaded the trial. It

occurred at every stage of the proceedings—during jury selection, opening 

statements, direct and cross-examination, and in closing argument. The 

misconduct also violated various rules—vouching for witnesses, 

bolstering the State’s case, introducing and relying on facts not in 

evidence, inflaming the jurors’ passions and prejudices, misstating the 

law, lessening the State’s burden of proof, disparaging the defense by 

inserting the prosecutor’s personal opinion, mischaracterizing the defense, 

urging the jury to go inside Jacobson’s thought processes, and treating the 
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defense as a choice Jacobson made. Whether review should be granted 

where the Court of Appeals reviewed the prejudicial effect of the 

misconduct in isolation and compared it with the sufficiency of the 

evidence? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).  

3. Whether the Court should grant review of the holding that the 

evidence was sufficient on both counts where the Court of Appeals relied 

on no decisions from this Court regarding the two counts, this Court has 

not interpreted the statutory agreement “to pay a fee” language and the 

Court of Appeals adopted a definition in conflict with recent amendments 

to the statute, the Court has not determined whether the solicitation statute 

is an alternative means crime, and the lower court’s decision conflicts with 

decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).   

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Under the auspices of the Missing and Exploited Children’s Task 

Force, Washington State Patrol Detective-Sergeant Carlos Rodriguez takes 

a “proactive” role of “going after” people who visit a lawful website that 

also attracts people the force “believes” want to do harm to children. RP 

132. During an operation, the task force posts two to four advertisements 

in the free “casual encounters” section of Craigslist every day and receives 

hundreds to thousands of responses. RP 137-38, 140. The task force’s 

funding depends upon it making arrests. RP 360-62.  
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Here, Rodriguez posted an advertisement titled “Young family fun, 

no RP lets meet” that stated “looking for crazy fun time. only serious need 

respond. no solicitations. single mom with 2 daus and 1 son.” RP 165; Ex. 

1. Jacobson responded he was “down for some fun” and asked to “trade 

pics.” RP 197, 207. Det. Rodriguez told Jacobson pictures were not 

enough. RP 227-28; Ex. 2, p.1. The task force engaged with Jacobson over 

the next two days, sending him pictures of a Washington State trooper as a 

teenager and refusing Jacobson’s requests to deviate from the undercover 

operation, to end contact, or to meet for ice cream or coffee. RP 258, 261; 

Ex. 4, pp.1, 2, 10-11, 12. Jacobson was arrested and charged with 

attempted commercial sexual abuse of a minor and attempted rape as he 

drove away from a gas station and towards the area of an address provided 

by the task force. CP 1-2; RP 332, 434-38, 444-52, 454-58. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. The Court should accept review because the holding 
that the task force did not commit outrageous 
government conduct conflicts with Division One’s 
decision that the same task force did act 
outrageously.  

 
This Court has infrequently addressed the due process doctrine of 

outrageous government conduct. See, e.g., State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 

19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996) (dismissing charge because the conduct of the 

police was so “contrary to public policy and to basic principles of human 
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decency” as to violate due process); State v. Valentine, 132 Wn.2d 1, 22-

24, 935 P.2d 1294 (1997); State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 375, 158 P.3d 

27 (2007). The time is ripe for further consideration. 

A partially privately-funded task force has been aggressively 

operating online sting operations, moving county to county across our 

state. RP 358-62; see RCW 13.60.110 (authorizing private donations). The 

large-scale operation creates a criminal enterprise and casts a wide net to 

lure adults with no prior criminal record who are participating in lawful 

online activity on a free website. E.g., RP 119-20, 132, 165, 209-10, 251-

52 (task force call center with 40 to 50 officers working); Ex. 1. The 

police then relentlessly pursue individuals with an unbending plan directed 

by the government. E.g., RP 132 (task force is “proactive”), 209-10 

(police continue conduct as long as it takes for individual to show up and 

be arrested); Ex. 4, p.10 (detective tells Jacobson cannot deviate from 

system). The task force uses emotional appeals to persuade the reluctant. 

E.g., RP 322; Ex. 4, p.12 (after Jacobson consents to ending the charade, 

detective responds “I am upset with you now.  I have to tell [my fictitious 

daughter, Lisa] you aren’t coming.  I shouldn’t have let . . . her talk to 

you.”); App’ts Op. Br. at 46-48. 

The Skagit County Superior Court found the government’s conduct 

of this operation to be outrageous. State v. Solomon, 3 Wn. App. 2d 895, 
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901, 419 P.3d 436 (2018). Division One concurred. Id. at 910-16. The 

charges against Solomon were dismissed. Id. at 916. 

Two weeks earlier, here, Division Two found the task force’s 

nearly identical conduct not outrageous. Slip Op. at 12-15; RP 134-35 

(operations are “all very similar”). The court denied Jacobson’s motion to 

reconsider in light of Division One’s intervening opinion in Solomon. Mtn. 

to Recons., No. 49887-1-II, pp.1-5 (filed June 1, 2018); Order at App. B. 

While the two divisions relied largely on the same case law and the 

facts derive from nearly identical task force operations, the results conflict. 

The Court should grant review to resolve this conflict and because the task 

force’s extensive, continued reach renders the issue a matter of substantial 

public import. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). 

2. The Court should accept review to clarify how 
appellate courts should review aggregated 
prosecutorial misconduct, which in this case was 
extensive.  

 
“The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the 

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 

article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution.” In re Personal 

Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). 

Despite these constitutional guarantees and the prosecutor’s quasi-judicial 

role, the Pierce County prosecutor imbued the proceedings with far-
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ranging and incurable misconduct. The Court should accept review to 

clarify the prejudice analysis and how courts evaluate the effect of 

multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct.  

a. The Pierce County prosecutor committed 
incurable misconduct by arguing it ‘is black and 
white’ that an adult who is ‘willing to talk about 
having sex with a child’ is an adult ‘who will’ 
have sex with a child. 
 

A prosecutor cannot seek verdicts based on the jury’s passions or 

prejudices and may only rely on facts admitted at trial. Glasmann, 175 

Wn.2d at 704-05 (discussing this Court’s long-standing rules). The Court 

of Appeals held the prosecutor inflamed the jury’s passions and prejudices 

and argued facts not in evidence in closing argument by telling the jury 

any adult who is willing to talk about having sex with a child is an adult 

who will have sex with a child and “that because Jacobson discussed 

having sex with a child, the jury should infer that he would have sex with 

a child.” Slip Op. at 32. However, the Court of Appeals improperly 

concluded the misconduct was not substantially likely to have affected the 

jury’s verdict because the prosecutor later made proper argument and the 

jury instructions included a generic instruction to disregard argument not 

supported by the evidence. Slip Op. at 32-33.  

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued: 
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A lot of our law is a gray area.  There aren’t many 
things that are black or white, one or the other, but I am 
going to suggest111 to you that there is one thing that is 
black and white, and that’s this: An adult will either have 
sex with a child or will not.  There isn’t any gray area there.  
An adult either will or will not.   

 
And I am going to go a little bit further than that 

and say that an adult that is willing to talk about having sex 
with a child falls in the category of an adult who will 
because there isn’t any adult in our society to whom the 
idea of sex with a child is repulsive, who will talk about 
having sex with a child.  That doesn't happen in the real  
world. 
 

This defendant clearly was willing to talk about 
having sex with a child. He pursued that topic over the 
course of three dates. He saw it out and then he drove to the 
place where he thought it was going to happen, and that’s 
what makes him guilty of both of these crimes. 
 

RP 786-87. The argument was improper because it relied on facts not 

presented at trial: No evidence showed it was “black and white” that any 

“adult that is willing to talk about having sex with a child . . . will” have 

sex with a child. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704-05; State v. Belgarde, 110 

Wn.2d 504, 507-10, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). Moreover, the argument 

inflamed the jury’s passions and prejudices by forecasting that even if 

Jacobson had not actually had sex with the fictitious police characters in 

this case, he would absolutely do so in the future (if the jury acquits).  

 Contrary to the opinion below, the impropriety was not cured by 

the prosecutor later making permissible argument or by the court’s generic 
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instruction that the jury should disregard argument not supported by 

admitted evidence. In cases where this Court reversed for misconduct, the 

prosecutor has also made some proper argument and the trial court has 

also provided the jury with standard instructions. E.g., Glasmann, 175 

Wn.2d at 700-03, 708-14; State v. Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 379-80, 341 P.3d 

268 (2015); State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 671, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). 

Moreover, the holding ignores this Court’s edicts that inflammatory 

misconduct generally is incurable by an instruction and prejudice should 

be determined cumulatively. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761-62, 278 

P.3d 653 (2012); Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675.  

b. The prosecutor committed incurable misconduct 
by inserting his personal opinion that Jacobson’s 
defense was ‘BS’. 
 

This Court has reversed where prosecutors express a personal 

opinion as to the credibility of a witness or the guilt of a defendant. State 

v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014); Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 

at 706-07. By opining on the credibility of the defendant’s testimony, a 

prosecutor “violates the advocate-witness rule, which prohibits an attorney 

from appearing as both a witness and an advocate in the same litigation.” 

Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 437. Yet, here, the Court of Appeals held the 
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Pierce County prosecutor made a “strong” but proper statement when he 

called Jacobson’s defense “BS.” Slip Op. at 36. The prosecutor argued,  

I am going to suggest to you that the defendant’s 
explanation of what “no RP” means was a couple of other 
initials, one of which is a B. But you know what? BS. It’s 
not possible that “no RP” means no real person. 
 

RP 792.1 

In Lindsay, another Pierce County deputy prosecutor called the 

defense a “crock” and the defendant’s testimony “funny,” “disgusting,” 

“comical,” and “the most ridiculous thing I’ve ever heard.” Id. at 429. 

Labeling the defendant’s testimony “the most ridiculous thing I’ve ever 

heard” carried no reasonable interpretation except that it was an 

expression of the prosecutor’s personal opinion of the defendant’s 

credibility. Id. at 437-38. This Court reversed, in part due to the 

prosecutorial opining, use of vulgarity, and lack of civility. Id. at 427, 433-

34, 437-38, 442-43. 

                                            
1 The prosecutor predicted his own misconduct, telling the jury,  
 

Let me say at the outset of this that I am going to 
use the word “I” multiple times in this closing 
argument. It is not my personal opinion. My personal 
opinion has no place in this case. So when I use the 
word “I,” I am not telling what I think. I am telling 
you what the evidence shows and what the law shows. 

 
RP 780. 
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As in Lindsay, the prosecutor’s argument that Jacobson’s 

“explanation” was “BS” constituted a forbidden, vulgar expression of the 

prosecutor’s personal opinion of Jacobson’s credibility and impugned his 

defense. 180 Wn.2d at 427, 433-34, 437-38. Moreover, as in Lindsay, the 

misconduct was not isolated to this comment. Id. As discussed above and 

below, the misconduct was far-reaching and pervasive.  

c. The prosecutor committed incurable misconduct 
by vouching for and bolstering the task force 
while disparaging the defense. 
 

The Court should also accept review because the opinion below 

fails to find misconduct where the prosecutor bolstered the task force’s 

actions and vouched for the police witnesses’ credibility throughout the 

trial and in his arguments to the jury. These arguments also inflamed the 

jury’s passions and prejudices, encouraging a verdict on impermissible 

bases. E.g., Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704. 

For example, in opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury that 

the task force works together to keep children safe, has held operations in 

several counties since 2015, have arrested over 60 people, and is 

“certainly” effectuating its purpose. RP 119-20. The prosecutor further 

created demons not present in Jacobson’s trial—Jacobson has no criminal 

history, he was not a registered sex offender, and he did not offer his own 

children for sale or exchange. RP 119-20. Yet, the prosecutor told the jury 
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that some of the arrestees “have been registered sex offenders” and “Some 

of them have offered their own children for sale or to exchange with these 

others.” RP 120. 

To juxtapose his falsified portrait of Jacobson, the prosecutor 

posited the task force and the police as the heroes. For example, the 

prosecutor asked Det. Rodriguez to describe Net Nanny Operations:2 

So Net Nanny Operation, it’s a proactive way to go after 
people or identify people who we believe want to do harm 
to kids. . . . [and] to rescue children, as well. 
 

RP 132-33. Even if a brief description is permissible, the bolstering 

questioning continued when the prosecutor asked the detective how his 

operation is “helping to protect the children in general?” RP 133-34. The 

detective responded by discussing the rescue of “18 kids . . . [f]rom people 

who were offering them up to us, from people who showed up to do things 

with our children or our undercover officers, children, and they had access 

to children.” Id. The prosecutor elicited these scenarios although they were 

not at issue in this trial because they played to the jury’s fears and 

prejudices. Accord RP 149-50 (asking witness repeatedly about incest). 

                                            
2 Prosecutorial misconduct can derive from witness questioning. E.g., 
State v. Jungers, 125 Wn. App. 895, 902-04, 106 P.3d 827 (2005) 
(prosecutor committed misconduct by eliciting improper response from 
witness); State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 89, 90-93, 68 P.3d 1153 (2003) 
(prosecutor committed misconduct requiring reversal by eliciting 
testimony on the credibility of another witness). 
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Other Court of Appeals decisions hold it is misconduct for a 

prosecutor to bolster police witnesses with evidence of their good 

character or reliability, commendations or distinguished careers. State v. 

Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 293-94, 183 P.3d 307 (2008). Yet, the Court of 

Appeals here found no impropriety when the prosecutor elicited testimony 

on the task force’s arrest and operations records, which was used to bolster 

the police, to suggest that this is a problem that needs to be solved by 

arrest and prosecution, and to submit that Jacobson can be found guilty by 

association. E.g., RP 134-35, 140 (describing hundreds of responses to an 

advertisement in Kitsap County and over 1,000 responses in Spokane), 

160-61 (Rodriguez posts advertisements the day before he intends to make 

arrests), 169 (“triag[ing] responses” to advertisement for “someone who 

[you believe] is really going to show up and truly want to meet with you”), 

208-09. The prosecutor also self-defined success as keeping the public 

safe by preventing individuals who otherwise would do so from engaging 

in illegal acts with children: 

Q By the way, are the Net Nanny Operations going to 
continue into next year? 
 
A They will continue as long as I can do them. . . . 
 
Q Have they been successful in what you’ve been intending 
to do with them? 
 
A Absolutely. 
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Q Which is what? 
 
A To get people who are trying to do harm to kids and to 
rescue children. 
 

RP 390. The prosecutor created a propensity inference that because the 

task force has been successful in its operations, and this was one of its 

operations, the jury could feel confident that this operation was one of the 

task force’s successes. The inference is improper because the very 

question for the jury was whether Jacobson was in fact attempting to 

engage in illegal acts with children. 

The prosecutor also falsely claimed the police had no interest in 

the case, where evidence showed task force funding depended on it 

making arrests. RP 798-99 (over objection); RP 360-62. 

d. The prosecutor committed incurable misconduct 
during voir dire. 

 
The prosecutor committed further misconduct during voir dire, 

using it for the improper purposes of educating the jury and to influence 

its resolution of the case. While attorneys are allowed to question jurors to 

determine potential bias on matters that might arise at trial, voir dire is not 

an opportunity for the parties to persuade the jury panel on particular facts 

of the case, to prejudice the jury against a particular party, to argue the 
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case or to compel jurors to commit themselves to a particular vote. State v. 

Frederiksen, 40 Wn. App. 749, 752, 700 P.2d 369 (1985). 

The Court of Appeals concluded the prosecutor did not use voir 

dire to educate the jury as to the particular facts of the case. Slip Op. at 23. 

Yet, this conclusion overlooks the prosecutor’s monologues about the 

Casual Encounters section of Craigslist—the very site used by the 

detectives in this case. The prosecutor even delved into the particular 

circumstances alleged here: “offering sex for money” and “offering kids 

for sale.” RP 10-11, 12, 14-15, 17-18, 19-21, 59-60; see generally Op. Br. 

at 24-29. The purpose of these monologues is particularly transparent 

because the prosecutor did not follow them with attempts to root out bias 

or to probe them as to their prior knowledge or ability to set aside bias. 

See, e.g., RP 59-60 (prosecutor describes mechanics of Craigslist and 

admits to asking rhetorical questions he does not expect jurors to answer). 

Voir dire also cannot be used to educate the jury as to factual 

matters that cannot be presented at trial. E.g., Am. Bar Assoc’n Standards 

3-5.3(c). Yet, here, the prosecutor discussed Backpage.com, the 

sensationalized television show To Catch a Predator, and jurors’ prior 

verdicts. RP 15-16 (linking Backpage.com executive’s arrest to issues in 

this case); RP 22-23 (discussing To Catch a Predator); RP 54 (discussing 

prior experiences in deliberations). 
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The opinion holds the prosecutor’s discussion of jurors’ roles in 

prior deliberations and whether failing to reach a verdict was “frustrating” 

were not flagrant and ill-intentioned because the jury is presumed to 

follow the court’s instructions, including the standard instruction on the 

conduct of deliberations. Slip Op. 25 (citing CP 38); RP 54. However, as 

discussed, such instructions have been provided in every case in which 

this Court has reversed for prosecutorial misconduct. E.g., Glasmann, 175 

Wn.2d 696 (reversible misconduct not curable by instructions); Monday, 

171 Wn.2d at 671, 680-81 (reversible misconduct despite court’s oral 

instruction). Thus, the focus must be on whether the generic instruction, 

provided at the end of the case, could cure the improprieties committed 

during voir dire. E.g., Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 761-62 (misconduct aimed at 

improper bases less likely to be curable by an instruction). The generic 

instruction was insufficient to overcome the prosecutor’s play on the

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