FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/26/2018 1:53 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96240-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ERIC KERMIT JACOBSON, PETITIONER

Court of Appeals Cause No. 49887-1-II Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

No. 15-1-05049-6

Answer to Petition for Review

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

BRITTA HALVERSON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44108

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

Other Authorities	-
Webster's Third New International Dictionary 833 (2002)	

A. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.</u>

- 1. Did the lower court correctly reject defendant's outrageous government conduct claim raised for the first time on appeal, where the court considered the totality of the circumstances and the unique facts of defendant's case as dictated by this Court in *Lively* which established that defendant initiated, requested and pursued sexual contact with a child?
- 2. Did the lower court correctly reject defendant's claims of prosecutorial misconduct and cumulative error, where defendant failed to show prejudicial error and where there was overwhelming evidence against defendant?
- 3. Did the lower court correctly find that sufficient evidence supported defendant's convictions for attempted rape of a child in the first degree and attempted commercial sexual abuse of a minor, where the evidence established that defendant intended to have sexual intercourse with an 11-yearold child in return for a "a fee," defendant offered a "gift card" as payment, and he took a substantial step by driving to the agreed-upon location with condoms, lubricant and Skittles?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE.</u>

A detailed account of the substantive facts and procedural history can be found in the Court of Appeals opinion, *State v. Jacobson*, No. 49887-1-II (Wash. Ct. App. May 15, 2018) (unpublished), attached to defendant's Petition for Review as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on May 15, 2018. The court affirmed defendant's convictions for attempted rape of a child in the first degree and attempted commercial sexual abuse of a minor, finding law enforcement's conduct did not violate due process, defendant failed to prove prosecutorial misconduct or cumulative error, and sufficient evidence supported both of defendant's convictions. The court also affirmed defendant's sentence, finding the trial court did not improperly infringe on defendant's First Amendment rights by prohibiting his use of the Internet and devices with Internet access. The defendant filed a petition for review. This answer follows.

C. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW IS UNNECESSARY.</u>

1. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED DEFENDANT'S OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENT CONDUCT CLAIM.

To obtain dismissal of a criminal prosecution on the basis of outrageous conduct in violation of due process, the conduct must "shock the universal sense of fairness." *State v. Lively*, 130 Wn.2d 1, 19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996) (citing *United States v. Russell*, 411 U.S. 423, 431-32, 93 S. Ct. 1637, 36 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1973)). Outrageous conduct must be more than mere deception. *Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 20. Dismissal is a "rarely used judicial weapon" reserved for only the most egregious circumstances, and "[i]t is not to be invoked each time the government acts deceptively." *Id*. at 20 (internal citations omitted); *State v. Rundquist*, 79 Wn. App. 786, 797, 905 P.2d 922 (1995) (internal citations omitted).

"Public policy allows for some deceitful conduct and violation of criminal laws by the police in order to detect and eliminate criminal activity." *Id.* at 20 (citing *State v. Emerson*, 10 Wn. App. 235, 242, 517 P.2d 245 (1973)). Undercover police tactics are recognized as an essential means to detect unlawful activity. *State v. Huckaby*, 15 Wn. App. 280, 285-86, 549 P.2d 35 (1976). Thus, the "doctrine of outrageous police conduct must be sparingly applied." *State v. Markwart*, 182 Wn. App. 335, 349, 329 P.3d 108 (2014) (citing *Rundquist*, 79 Wn. App. at 793). Whether the State has engaged in outrageous conduct sufficient to bar prosecution is a matter of law the court reviews de novo. *Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 19; *State v. O'Neill*, 91 Wn. App. 978, 990-91, 967 P.2d 985 (1998).

In reviewing a defense of outrageous government conduct, the court evaluates the conduct based on the totality of the circumstances. *Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 21. "*Each case must be resolved on its own unique set of facts* and each component of the conduct must be submitted to scrutiny bearing in mind 'proper law enforcement objectives – the prevention of crime and the apprehension of violators." *Id.* at 21 (internal

citations omitted) (emphasis added). Factors to consider when determining whether police conduct offends due process include:

[W]hether the police conduct instigated a crime or merely infiltrated ongoing criminal activity; whether the defendant's reluctance to commit a crime was overcome by pleas of sympathy, promises of excessive profits, or persistent solicitation; whether the government controls the criminal activity or simply allows for the criminal activity to occur; whether the police motive was to prevent crime or protect the public; and whether the government conduct itself amounted to criminal activity or conduct 'repugnant to a sense of justice.'

Id. at 22 (citations omitted). The focus is on the State's behavior rather than the defendant's predisposition. *Id.* at 22.

Here, petitioner argues that review is warranted, because the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with Division One's published opinion in *State v. Solomon*, 3 Wn. App.2d 895, 419 P.3d 436 (2018). *See* Petition for Review¹ at 1, 4-5. Petitioner's claim is without merit, as *Solomon* is distinguishable from the present matter. First, the defendant in *Solomon* raised the issue of outrageous government conduct before trial and moved to dismiss the charges against him. 3 Wn. App.2d at 901. The trial court agreed with Solomon, entered specific findings of fact regarding the outrageousness of the undercover detective's conduct, and dismissed the charges. *Id.* at 909-11, 916. The Court of Appeals subsequently reviewed

¹ Hereinafter "Petition."

the trial court's decision under an abuse of discretion standard and found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the charges against Solomon. *Id.* at 910, 916.

The defendant in this case, on the other hand, did not raise the issue of outrageous government conduct before the trial court. He apparently did not find the government's conduct to be outrageous until after he was found guilty by a jury of his peers. Thus, in considering petitioner's claim raised for the first time on appeal, the Court of Appeals reviewed the issue de novo pursuant to *Lively. See State v. Jacobson*, No. 49887-1-II, slip op. at 12 (Wash. Ct. App. May 15, 2018) (unpublished); *Lively*, 130 Wn.2d at 19. Jacobson's case is therefore procedurally distinguishable from *Solomon*, as the courts considered their respective records under different standards of review.

Second, the court in *Solomon* did *not* find that law enforcement's general undercover use of Craigslist advertisements to locate and prosecute individuals desiring to engage in unlawful sexual conduct with minors constitutes outrageous government conduct. Rather, the court found that given the specific facts of Solomon's case and the findings made by the trial court, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the charges. *Solomon*, 3 Wn. App.2d at 910-16. The trial court in *Solomon* was particularly concerned over law enforcement's "persistent

- 5 -

solicitation that overcame Solomon's reluctance to commit the underlying criminal conduct." *Id.* at 912. There, the undercover detective disclosed to the defendant, "I'm almost 15 but waaay advanced," and the defendant responded, "wow, 15...not the best idea sorry I'm not willing to get in trouble...maybe hit me up in 3 years if your still around girl[.]" *Solomon*, 3 Wn. App.2d at 912. The defendant attempted "seven times" to end the conversation, but "the detective continued to solicit him each of the seven times that he sought to withdraw." *Id.* at 913-14. Additionally, the detective sent Solomon "nearly 100 messages laden with graphic, sexualized language" that the trial court found repugnant, and law enforcement initiated and controlled the criminal activity. *Id.* at 897-98, 914-16. Thus, the trial court's finding of outrageous government conduct was confined to the specific facts of Solomon's case.

Here, in contrast, the lower court in reviewing defendant's claim de novo found that defendant "instigated criminal activity by responding to the ad and requesting sexual contact with a child...[he] initiated discussions about the crime, controlled the extent of the crime, and arranged for the crime to take place...law enforcement did not overcome Jacobson's reluctance with pleas of sympathy or persistent solicitation." *Jacobson*, slip op. at 14-15. Defendant searched the Casual Encounters section of Craigslist and responded to the fictitious ad that offered "young

- 6 -

family fun." RP 165, 196-97, 553-55; Exh. 1, 2. Defendant inquired about trading pictures and expressed his interest in "some play" with the listed daughters. Exh. 2. He stated his interest in "sensual and intimate physical exploration" and helping the 11-year-old daughter "go all the way." Exh. 2; Exh. 4, at 1, 5. He asked for pictures. Exh. 4, at 1-2. He asked about the "rules" and what he could do sexually. Exh. 4, at 5-7. And, he repeatedly asked how to proceed and where and when to meet for "play time." Exh. 4, at 2-9; Exh. 9. When undercover officer "Kristl" texted that she was "done" with defendant and it was too much hassle, defendant responded by asking about her availability and if he could still come over to meet. Exh. 4, at 12. Unlike in *Solomon*, defendant was up front about wanting to engage in sexual conduct with a child and continued to pursue that topic.

The Court of Appeals appropriately evaluated law enforcement's conduct in defendant's case based on the totality of the circumstances and the case's own unique set of facts, as directed by this Court in *Lively*. Therefore, this case is not in conflict with *Solomon* and reviewed is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The determination of outrageous government conduct is case and fact specific, and this Court previously provided the appropriate guidance in *Lively*. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, if review is accepted in this case, then it

-7-

should be limited to the above claim of outrageous government conduct. This Court's consideration of the issue would be of assistance to appellate and trial practitioners, as there is limited caselaw in this area and the opinion would help define appropriate undercover law enforcement investigations regarding internet crimes against children.

2. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT AND CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Well settled standards govern review of claimed instances of prosecutorial misconduct. To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must establish that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and resulted in prejudice in light of the context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Prejudice exists only where there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Id.* at 442-443. When a defendant fails to object to an improper remark, he waives a claim of error unless the remark is "so flagrant and ill intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *Id.* at 443 (quoting *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)). "Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) 'no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury' and (2) the misconduct resulted in

- 8 -

prejudice that 'had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.'" *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (quoting *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 455).

Failure to object or move for mistrial at the time of the argument "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P. 2d 610 (1990); *see also*, *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 679, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). "Accordingly, reviewing courts focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured by an instruction." *State v. Smiley*, 195 Wn. App. 185, 195, 379 P.3d 149 (2016) (citing *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 762).

Thus, a properly challenged statement will be reviewed for a "substantial likelihood" that it affected the jury's verdict, while unchallenged statements will be considered only if the error was too egregious for a timely objection to be worthwhile. On appeal, courts review alleged improper comments in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997); *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86.

-9-

The lower court in this case affirmed these standards and correctly applied them to the alleged instances of misconduct in defendant's case. See Jacobson, slip op. at 15-16. Defendant contends that this Court should accept review to "clarify how appellate courts should review aggregated prosecutorial misconduct." See Petition at 5-6. Defendant then proceeds to reiterate the alleged instances of prosecutorial misconduct raised below. Id. at 5-19. The lower court evaluated every instance of claimed prosecutorial misconduct raised by defendant and found three² separate instances of nonprejudicial error. Slip op. at 25-26, 30-33. Defendant did not object to the improper statements during trial and failed to show the prosecutor's conduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned. Id. The three separate instances – during voir dire, opening, and closing argument – were brief and isolated and defendant failed to show that no instruction could have cured any resulting prejudice. Id. See, e.g., Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 88 ("Even if the remark was error, the prejudicial effect of this isolated statement could have been cured had the defense objected."); *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 762 (reviewing courts should focus more on "whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured."). The lower court's finding that the improper remarks were *isolated* does not mean the court reviewed

 $^{^{2}}$ The court assumed without deciding that the prosecutor's statements during voir dire about reaching a unanimous verdict were improper. *See* slip op. at 25.

them *in isolation*, as defendant suggests. Rather, the lower court reviewed the statements in the context of the whole argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the instructions given to the jury. *See Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86. *See also*, slip op. at 25 (court considers instructions given to jury), 31 (court considers evidence presented at trial and court's instruction to the jury), 32-33 (court reviews whole argument and evidence addressed in argument, as well as instructions given to jury).

The Court of Appeals correctly found that defendant waived the above issues on appeal. *See* slip op. at 25-26, 30-33. Defendant does not demonstrate any error in the lower court's waiver analysis, nor does he argue that the remarks were incurable by an instruction to the jury had he timely objected at trial.³ Accordingly, defendant fails to show a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

In his petition for review, defendant goes on to claim, once again, that the prosecutor committed reversible misconduct by arguing that defendant's explanation that "no RP" meant "no real person" was "BS." Petition at 8-10. However, the lower court disagreed with defendant and

³ An improper argument intended to inflame the passions of the jury is not per se reversible misconduct as defendant suggests. Petition at 8. *See, e.g., State v. McKenzie,* 157 Wn.2d 44, 60-61, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (prosecutor's improper allusions to victim's chastity, intended to inflame the passions of the jury, did not warrant a new trial, as unobjected-to comments were not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that their prejudicial effect could not have been cured by a timely instruction to the jury).

found that the prosecutor permissibly argued that the evidence presented at trial did not support Jacobson's testimony, and the challenged statement was not a comment on defense counsel's role and did not impugn defense counsel's integrity. Slip op. at 35-36. A prosecutor is allowed to argue that the evidence does not support a defense theory. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87. The prosecutor's argument here is thus distinguishable from *State v*. *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014), on which defendant relies. Defendant does not claim that the lower court erred in finding the challenged statement proper, nor does he argue that the lower court's decision conflicts with a decision of this Court. Thus, review of that issue is unwarranted.

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